Articles of Association Commons & Code e.V.

Please note this is an automated translation based on the EU's eTranslation service.

§1 Name, registered office and financial year

- (1) The association is called Commons & Code. It shall be entered in the association register.

 After registration, he carries the legal form 'e.V.' in the name.
- (2) The financial year shall be the calendar year.
- (3) The association has its seat in Leipzig.

§ 2 Purpose of the association, not-for-profit

- (1) The association shall act exclusively and directly for charitable purposes as set out in the section of the Tax Code devoted to "Tax benefit concessions".
- (2) The purpose of the association is to promote science and research and to promote education, people and vocational training.
- (3) The purpose of the association is achieved in particular by promoting public dialogue on responsible, inclusive and democratic digitalisation. The association organises and organises informative and opinion-forming events to promote the debate on the social and democracy change effects of digitalisation. Among other things, the club collects and analyses international cases in the field of digital policy and develops scientific recommendations for policy, administration and civil society to make them available to the general public. To promote the European idea, the Association is building a Europe-wide network for digital co-creation. The association carries out public and educational activities to promote democratic governance. The Association aims to make essential publications and deliverables available in a multilingual manner, in particular in English, in order to promote international accessibility and participation.
- (4) The Association shall be non-profit-making; it shall not primarily pursue its own commercial interests. The funds of the Association may be used only for the purposes set out in the Statutes. Members shall not receive any payments from the funds of the Association. Noone may benefit from expenditure that is not in keeping with the purpose of the association or from disproportionately high remuneration.

§ 3 Membership and membership fees

- (1) Any natural person who has reached the age of 14 and any legal person who supports the objectives of the Association may become a member of the Association.
- (2) The application for membership must be made in writing to the Governing Board, by e-mail

- or via the website. The Bureau shall decide on the admission at the discretion of the Board. The objection need not contain a statement of reasons. The candidate shall have no right of appeal against the rejection.
- (3) Withdrawal is possible with a deadline of four weeks at the end of a quarter. The withdrawal shall be declared in writing or by e-mail to the Governing Board. There is no right to reimbursement of membership fees already paid.
- (4) Membership shall be lost:
 - 1. in the case of natural persons, as a result of their death or loss of legal capacity;
 - 2. in the case of legal persons, the loss of legal capacity;
 - 3. by withdrawal pursuant to paragraph 3;
 - 4. by exclusion pursuant to paragraph 6.
- (5) Members pay an annual contribution. The amount and due date of the contribution shall be decided by the Assembly of Members in a financial regulation.
- (6) A member may be expelled from the Association by decision of the Board of Directors with immediate effect if an important reason makes the continuation of membership unreasonable for the Association or its members. Such an important reason exists, in particular, where, despite a reminder, the member is in arrears for more than six months in paying his contribution, has grossly infringed the interests of the association, has repeatedly or seriously infringed the statutes, or has, through his or her conduct, permanently disrupts the reputation of the association or the association's peace. The Member shall be given the opportunity to be heard before being expelled. The Member may, within one month of receipt of the declaration of exclusion, refer the case to the next ordinary general assembly, which shall take a final decision. The exclusion on the grounds of non-payment of membership fees shall be governed by the Financial Regulation.

§ 4 Rights and obligations of Members

- (1) When applying for membership, the members shall recognise the content of the statutes and the other rules of association adopted by the general meeting. Members are obliged to support the objectives and interests of the Association and to comply with the decisions and orders of the Association's bodies.
- (2) Members are required to notify the Board of Directors of a postal address and an e-mail address that can be sent and to inform the Board immediately of any change in their name and/or address details.

§ 5 Organs

The bodies of the Association shall be:

- 1. the Assembly of Members;
- 2. the Board of Directors.

§ 6 Ordinary Assembly of Members

- (1) The Assembly of Members shall be held at least once a year.
- (2) The Assembly of Members may take the form of a physical or virtual meeting. For the faceto-face meeting, all participants of the General Assembly meet in a common place. The
 virtual assembly is organised by the election of all participants in a videoor telephone
 conference. A combination of face-to-face meeting and virtual meeting of members is
 possible by giving members the possibility to participate in the physical meeting by video or
 teleconference. The Bureau shall decide on the form of the Assembly of Members and shall
 communicate it in the invitation to the Assembly of Members. If the Bureau invites to a virtual
 meeting of members, it shall communicate the election data for the video or telephone
 conference to the members by email at least one hour before the beginning of the Assembly
 of Members. The Assembly of Members shall adopt a Rules of Assembly for further details.
- (3) The meeting of the Assembly of Members shall be convened in writing or by e-mail by the Governing Board, specifying the agenda, with two weeks' notice. The period shall begin to run on the date of dispatch of the invitation. The invitation letter shall be deemed to have been received by the Member if it is addressed to the last postal or e-mail address communicated by the member to the Association.
- (4) Requests to supplement the agenda may be submitted by any member. They must be submitted in writing to the Bureau one week before the meeting, stating the reasons. The Chairman of the Assembly shall announce the addition at the beginning of the Assembly. The Assembly may also accept individual requests or items on the agenda at the Assembly, provided that the Assembly so decides on a case-by-case basis.
- (5) The quorum of the Assembly of Members shall be independent of the number of members appearing. Voting rights shall be exercised in person. Delegation of voting rights or representation by proxy shall not be permitted.
- (6) Decisions shall be taken by a simple majority of the valid votes cast. In the event of a tie, a decision shall be rejected. Abstentions shall be deemed not to have been cast. Amendments to the Statutes shall require a two-thirds majority of the votes cast. For the dissolution of the Association:
 - A majority of three quarters of the votes cast. An application for the dissolution of the Association must be announced in the invitation to the meeting.
- (7) The decisions of the Assembly of Members shall be recorded in minutes to be signed by the respective Heads of Assembly and by the minutes.
- (8) The rules governing the conduct, direction of meetings, keeping minutes and the right to request items on the agenda and motions shall be adopted by the Assembly of Members in an Assembly's Rules.
- (9) Elections shall, in principle, be open unless a secret ballot is requested by law or by objection in the Assembly. A person who obtains a majority of the valid votes cast shall be elected. If, in the first ballot, no candidate has obtained a majority of the valid votes cast, a run-off vote shall be held between the candidates who have obtained the two highest

numbers of votes.

- (10) The Assembly of Members shall be responsible in particular for:
 - 1. The election and removal of members of the Board of Directors;
 - 2. the approval of the budget established by the Board for the next financial year;
 - 3. receiving the annual report and granting discharge to the Bureau;
 - 4. the adoption of decisions on the financial rules and the rules of assembly, as well as on amendments to the statutes and the dissolution of the Association;
 - 5. any other duties assigned to it by law or by these statutes.

§ 7 Extraordinary Assembly of Members

- (1) An extraordinary general meeting shall be held if the interest of the Association so requires or if one-fifth of the members request it in writing to the Board of Directors, stating its reasons.
- (2) The rules governing the ordinary general meeting shall apply mutatis mutandis to the Extraordinary Assembly of Members, subject to the proviso that only the items which required the convocation may be discussed and decided upon.
- (3) The notice period may be reduced to one week in urgent cases if this is strictly necessary to safeguard the interests of the association.

§8 Board

- (1) The Board shall consist of:
 - two equal chairs of different genders;
 - 2. the Treasurer;
 - a number of other members of the Board of Directors to be determined by the Assembly of Members, but not less than two.
- (2) Two members of the Board of Directors from each of the presidents and the Treasurer are entitled to be represented jointly. By decision of the general meeting of members, members of the board of directors may be exempted from the restrictions laid down in Section 181 of the Civil Code.
- (3) The Board of Directors manages the business and represents the Association in all matters in court and out of court. In addition, it shall in particular:
 - 1. Preparing and convening the Assembly of Members and drawing up the agenda;
 - 2. Implementing the decisions of the Assembly of Members;
 - 3. Keeping the accounts;
 - 4. Preparation of the budget, the annual accounts and the annual report;
 - 5. Positioning the content of the decisions of the Assembly of Members;
 - 6. Conclusion and termination of employment contracts;
 - 7. Exercise of the right to issue instructions to staff;

- 8. Decision-making on the admission and exclusion of members;
- 9. The Board of Directors may adopt amendments to the articles of association required by the register of associations or by the tax authority.
- (4) The members of the Board of Directors shall be elected by the Assembly of Members for a period of two years. Only members of the association are eligible for election. Mandates can be renewed. The members of the Board of Directors shall be appointed by the Assembly of Members per post in a separate ballot. The members of the Board of Directors in office shall remain in office at the end of their term of office until their successors are elected. If a member of the Board resigns before the end of the term of office, the remaining members of the Board may cooperate with the Board of Directors until the next General Assembly. A maximum of two members of the Board may be co-opted.
- (5) Members of the Board are, in principle, voluntary. They shall be entitled to compensation for reasonable expenses incurred. The general meeting of members may decide on an appropriate remuneration for individual or all members of the board of directors up to the level laid down in Section 3(26a) EStG.
- (6) The Bureau shall take its decisions in Bureau meetings convened in text form by one of the chairs or the Treasurer. In any case, a notice period of three days must be observed. The Bureau meetings may be held as an alternative virtual meeting. The virtual board meeting takes place by selecting all participants in a videoor telephone conference. Moreover, the same rules apply. The
 - Bureau meetings are in principle open to all members. Individual items on the agenda may be dealt with in closed session, stating the reasons for the meeting.
- (7) The Board of Directors shall have a quorum if at least three members of the Board are present. When a decision is taken, a majority of the valid votes cast shall be taken. In the event of a tie, a decision shall be rejected.
- (8) A decision of the Governing Board may be taken in text if all members of the Board express their agreement to the rules to be adopted.
- (9) The Governing Board shall lay down rules of procedure for the organisation of meetings, decision-making procedures, distribution of business, tasks and portfolios, which must be made public to the members.
- (10) Directors shall be liable to the Association only for intentional or grossly negligent conduct. Where members of the Board of Directors are used by third parties as a result of their board activities, the Association shall release the member of the Board concerned from these claims, unless the member of the Board acted intentionally or with serious negligence.

§ 9 Dissolution of the Association

If the association is dissolved or dissolved or if tax-favoured purposes cease to exist, its assets are transferred to the Gesellschaft für Freiheitsrechte e.V., Berlin, for use for the promotion of science and research and for the promotion of civic engagement. Should the Gesellschaft für Freiheitsrechte e.V. cease to exist or have lost non-profit status at the time of dissolution, the general meeting shall

designate another tax-favoured body which shall use the assets directly and exclusively for the promotion of science, research and civic engagement.